IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT C. COX,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sharon Zellers was murdered around New Year of 1979;
Robert C. Cox was indicted for the murder on February 25, 1988
(R1974) 1/2 while serving a 9 year prison term in California for kidnapping, assault with a firearm, and assault with a deadly weapon. (R1377, State's Exhibit 5) Cox moved to dismiss the indictment due to the pre-indictment delay by the State of Florida. (R2104-08) Cox also moved for discharge based upon a violation of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers, in that he was not brought to trial within 180 days of his demand for final disposition of the murder charge. (R2109-12) Following hearings (R1337-94), the motions were denied. (R2200,2187)

Trial occurred in the Circuit Court for Orange County, the Honorable Richard F. Conrad presiding. At the conclusion of

^{1/ (}R) refers to the record on appeal in the instant case, Florida Supreme Court Case Number 73,150.

the state's case defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal, arguing in detail that the evidence was legally insufficient to support a murder conviction (R979-90), in th t it failed to prove venue (R993), any underlying felony to support a felony murder (R993-97), and/or premeditation. (R998-1009) The court granted an acquittal to the charge of felony first-degree murder (R1027), but denied relief on all other grounds. (R992-993, 1011). Cox rested without presenting any testimony. (R1011) Cox personally refused to waive application of the statute of limitations for the lesser included offenses of murder (R1020-22), so the verdict form contained only two options; guilty of first-degree premeditated murder and not guilty. (R2281) After a day and a half of deliberations and multiple jury questions Cox was found guilty of first-degree premeditated murder. (R2281)

PENALTY PHASE

The penalty phase occurred two months later on August 29, 1988. Prior to the hearing Cox personally waived the statutory mitigating circumstance of no prior significant history of criminal activity. (R1537) Over strenuous objection, the state presented as "rebuttal" the testimony of one of Cox's childhood friends to establish that Cox had, as a youth, been arrested for burglarizing an auto parts store. (R1847-49) Cox also personally waived instructions on all statutory mitigating circumstances except for the age of the defendant at the time of the crime and any other aspect of the defendant's character or record. (R1853) After deliberating for 2½ hours the jury recommended by a seven

to five vote that a death sentence be imposed. (R1932)

Accordingly, a death sentence was imposed September 30, 1988.

(R1940-43) In a separate order, the judge found as aggravating circumstances that Cox had previously been convicted of a felony involving the use of threat or violence to the person and that the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.

(R2509-17) (See Appendix A) The court found as mitigation Cox's behavior in prison and Cox's military record and conduct.

(R2511-12) A motion for new trial was denied September 29, 1988.

(R2518) A timely notice of appeal was filed October 6, 1988

(R2521), and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Robert Cox for the purpose of his appeal based on a finding of indigency. (R2520) This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Nineteen-year-old Sharon Zellers worked at Walt Disney World. (R451-52) On December 29, 1978 she was seen by a coworker talking to a maintenance man at the Disney World complex, and afterward she became upset. (R495-96) The next day she was called in to work from 1 P.M. until 10 P.M. (R453-54) When Zellers was not home by midnight her father twice drove to the Disney World parking lot and back home searching for her. (R457,461-67) He then called the sheriff's office and reported his daughter missing. (R469-70)

Zellers' automobile, a 1966 Ford Falcon, was found January 3, 1979 near Orlando in an orange grove next to Sand Lake Road between Apopka and 1-4 in Orange County, Florida. (R472-75, Zellers' purse was found on the front passenger-side 497-99) floorboard of the Falcon; it contained a large black comb, a wallet, a change purse containing \$12.00, i.d. cards, driver's license, a hair brush, cigarettes, and a zippered bag. (R523-25, State's Exhibit 20) The police found shoe prints on the inside of the windshield and the post separating the front and back seat windows (R526-29,619-20). On January 4, 1979 the police searched a sewage lift station located near the Falcon and therein found the fully-clothed body of Sharon Zellers. (R472-75,481,504-08) State's Exhibit 13 is an aerial photograph depicting the orange grove, the Falcon, a portion of Sand Lake Road, and the sewage lift station as they were in 1979. (R514)

Zellers' blood alcohol content was .069%. (R787)
Zellers could have been alive as late as January 2, 1979. (R787)

The medical examiner concluded that Zellers died as a result of multiple blunt force injuries to the head that caused brain injury. (R777) He observed fourteen wounds to the head, and noted that all but one could have been made with the same weapon. (R772) Two head injuries were potentially fatal (R763,769-70), but the doctor did not believe that death was immediate. (R777) The amount of blood found in various wounds indicated that Zellers survived possibly 20 to 30 minutes after being injured. (R773-74) Zellers also received injuries to the left lower rib cage, the back of each forearm, contusions on the left back along the upper margin of the shoulder blade, and a contusion below the right buttock on the right upper thigh; a fracture to the ninth rib on the left side was potentially fatal because it punctured the lung prior to death. (R778-80,786) Zellers was identified through the dental records. (R783,819-20)

The right side of the Falcon was damaged. (State's Exhibits 3 and 4) Zellers' watch was found approximately six feet behind the Falcon (R539-43), but no tire prints, footprints, fingerprints or bloodstains were found outside the vehicle. (R537) The bottom portion of the Falcon's rear seat, which had been in the Falcon on December 30, 1978 (R477), was missing. (R537-39) An expert in shoe comparison (R609-14) concluded that there was better than a 50-50 chance that the shoe print on the inside of the windshield was made by Zellers' shoe. (R619-20, State's Exhibits 22,23 and 24)

A bloodstain on the Falcon's dashboard was type A blood. (R865) Zellers' blood was type A. (R855-58) A bloodstain

on the upholstery was type O (R866), as was a bloodstain on the steering column. (R865) Cox has type O blood, as does 45% of the population. (R870) No enzyme tests were performed on the blood. (R872-73) A DNA comparison test was conducted and the results were inconclusive. (R1343,2211) The police obtained loose hair from the front seat (R533-34), three of which are consistent with Cox's chest hair. (R530-33,886,940) The state expert testified that hair comparison is not a positive means of identification; different people have hair with the same characteristics. (R948)

The sewage lift station where Zellers' body was found is 340 feet from a Days Inn motel. (R683-84) Room 3303 was on December 30-31, 1978 registered to Robert Cox. (R673-75, State Exhibit 28) The room was also occupied by Cox's parents. (State Exhibit 49) A security quard at the Days Inn testified that on December 31, 1978 he investigated a complaint concerning an injured person attempting to enter room 2303. (R636-37) The quard's investigation led to room 3303 where he was asked by Cox's mother to provide help to her son who, though very bloody around the face and mouth, had no bruises or scratches. (R638) The quard tried to talk to Cox, who was at that time wearing only sweat pants (R641), but due to his injury Cox could only communicate by writing messages. Cox explained that he had been injured in a fight with a black man at Skate World and had been brought back to the motel by a passerby. (R650-51) Cox's notes to the security guard were not preserved. (R651). Cox passed out on the bed. (R641). An ambulance was called and Cox was taken to the hospital. (R641-42)

The surgeon who performed the surgery on Cox was contacted shortly thereafter by Detective Hansen (R916). After reviewing his operative notes, the surgeon could not determine whether or not Cox's wound had been self-inflicted. (R912-913)When testifying at Cox's trial almost ten years later the surgeon was unable to recall the injury (R908), but his notes reflected that "almost 3/4 of an inch of Cox's tongue had been bitten off." (R907) The surgeon stated that it is possible for a person to bite off his own tongue if struck hard enough on the chin, and a bruise would not necessarily result. (R915) The surgical technologist who assisted in Cox's surgery testified that "about a third of the front portion of the tongue was gone. It had been bitten off very obviously". (R717-22) While testifying, the witness drew a representation of the injury as she remembered it the sketch was introduced into evidence over defense objection as State Exhibit 36. (R721,737) The state presented no evidence whatsoever that Cox could not have bitten his own tongue in the manner depicted in State Exhibit 36, or that Zellers bit the tongue of her murderer. Rather an expert forensic odontologist, as requested by the police, examined Zellers' teeth in January, 1979 for the presence of any foreign tissue and could find none. (R821)

A deputy who worked off-duty as a security guard at Skate World on December 30, 1978 testified that no fights occurred at Skate World on that date. (R953-54) On cross-examination, he clarified that his opinion was based on the premise that, although he worked inside that night and did not

patrol the parking lot outside where the fight was alleged to have occurred, he would have been informed of such a fight by others. (R957-62) Similarly, a disc jockey/floor guard who also worked inside Skate World in December of 1978 testified that he recalled no fight occurring on December 30, 1978. (R970) Cox's automobile was parked in a parking lot approximately 100 yards west of Skate World. (R975) An officer testified that, although he could recall nothing else whatsoever about Cox's automobile, he looked inside it with his flashlight when he brought Cox's father to the automobile and saw no blood. (R976-77)

Robert Cox was an adopted child. (R1767) He was born in Wichita, Kansas and grew up in Springfield, Missouri. (R1764) He was described by neighbors as not being afraid of hard work. (R1777) He assisted neighbors with their chores, was active in church programs and was considered a leader in the neighborhood. (R1782-85) Cox married in 1979 and has a young son (R1328). Cox enlisted in the United States Army and participated in the Grenada invasion. (R1839-40) He personally prevented one of his soldiers from hurting a Grenada student who was mistakenly believed to be an enemy soldier. (R1840-42) Cox became a member of the Airborne Rangers, a very elite group of servicemen (R1842), he was the most highly decorated soldier in his company. (R1722) He was soldier of the year in 1979. (R1723) He obtained a candidacy to Officer Candidate School and was about to receive a commission as a First Lieutenant when he pled guilty to charges of kidnapping and assault in California. (R1706-08)

While imprisoned in California Cox corresponded with his son three to four times a week. (R1332) His conduct in prison was exemplary. One supervisor who "very, very seldom" testifies for inmates testified that Cox gained the position of an inmate coordinator and overseer who dealt with the inmates and assisted them with their problems. "And he was absolutely excellent at that, and that's why I am here." (R1780) Several instructors from the California Department of Corrections testified that Cox's performance as their assistant was outstanding. One testified that "Bob was a very calm, collected, bright, helpful person in and out of the classroom. He was labeled a good guy, not a bad guy." (R1798) Cox is the first inmate she ever scored as superior in every category available. (R1798) She testified that Cox was placed in Deuell as opposed to Susanville, which is a lower-security facility, because a hold had been placed on him by Florida for the offense of first-degree murder. (R1802) Another instructor testified that Cox took a personal interest in assisting inmates who were soon to be released. He described Cox as an excellent worker who did much work on his own initiative, including creating computer programs to assist inmates in relocating after release. (R1807-11)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

<u>POINT I</u>: The evidence that Robert Cox murdered Zellers is legally insuffici nt to support the verdict because the evidence fails to exclude the presumption of Cox's innocence. There is <u>no</u> direct evidence that Cox is the person who murdered Zellers, and the circumstantial evidence is legally insufficient to support that conclusion beyond a reasonable doubt. The conviction violates the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Art. 1, Sections **9** and 16, Florida Constitution. The conviction must be reversed and Cox discharged from Florida custody.

<u>POINT 11</u>: The trial judge, on his own motion and over defense objection, excused a statutorily qualified prospective juror who did not request to be excused from service. The judge further prevented questioning of the prospective juror whereby a record could be created for appellate review. Such a cavalier ruling in a capital case over timely objection was an abuse of discretion which denied Cox state and federal constitutional rights to a jury trial and Due Process. A new trial is required.

POINT 111: The trial judge excused for cause, over defense objection, a juror who unequivocally asserted that she could and would follow her oath as a juror. Her excusal violated state and federal constitutional rights to due process and a jury trial composed of a fair cross-section of the community. Accordingly, the conviction must be reversed and the matter remanded for retrial.

POINT IV: Based on Zellers murder, Florida placed a detainer against Cox while he was imprisoned in California. Cox immediately requested final disposition of the Florida charge pursuant to the Interstate Agreement on Detainers. That Agreement required that Cox be brought to trial within 180 days from the date of the requested final disposition of the charges upon which the detainer was based. Florida failed to try Cox within the prescribed 180 day period. Accordingly, the conviction must be reversed and Cox discharged forthwith.

<u>POINT V</u>: The state waited nine years to indict Cox for Zellers' murder. During that time, the state developed no new information and destroyed information except that which was beneficial to its case. The delay effectively prevented Cox from conducting any meaningful investigation concerning Zellers' murder or his own alibi. He was by the unnecessary and intentional delay deprived of his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to Due Process.

Accordingly, the conviction must be reversed and Cox discharged.

<u>POINT VI</u>: The trial court made several erroneous rulings on evidentiary matters. Those errors singularly and cumulatively violate Due Process, denied Cox a fair trial, and otherwise render the death penalty unreliable under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.

<u>POINT VII</u>: Prior to the penalty phase Cox waived the statutory mitigating circumstance of no significant prior criminal history.

The state and the court accepted that waiver. While presenting testimony, defense counsel scrupulously avoided opening the door for the state to use such testimony. Over objection, the state presented testimony concerning Cox's arrest for burglary when 16 years old to "rebut the characteristics of leadership" that had been established by the defense. The use of such testimony over objection denied Cox his right to due process and a fair trial under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Art. 1, Sections 9 and 16 of the Florida Constitution. Further, reliance on non-statutory aggravating factors renders the death penalty unreliable under the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Art. 1, Sec. 17 of the Florida Constitution. The death penalty must be vacated.

POINT VIII: The death penalty is being imposed in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, in that the judge rather than the jury is determining the presence of substantive elements of the crime upon which imposition of the death penalty is based. The statutory aggravating factors are substantive elements of the crime which actually define which first-degree murders can be punished by death. The trial court denied Cox his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial by denying a timely request that the jury use a special verdict form whereby they would determine the presence of the statutory aggravating circumstances. Accordingly, the death penalty must be reversed and the matter remanded for imposition of a life sentence.

POINT IX: The death penalty in Florida is being arbitrarily and capriciously applied as a result of vague and inspecific statutory language. Decisions of this Court have not provided consistent results under the same or substantially similar facts. Moreover, this Court has applied the wrong standard of review concerning the presence of mitigating circumstances. Instead of consistently providing plenary review in all cases, this Court considers itself bound to an abuse of discretion standard unless the jury recommends life. The death penalty statutes in Florida facially and as applied violate the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments. The death sentence must be reversed and a sentence of life imposed.

POINT X: Imposition of the death penalty in this case violates the Eighth Amendment because of vague, misleading and improper jury instructions and argument. Of the two aggravating factors found by the trial judge, one (an especially heinous, atrocious or cruel murder) is unconstitutionally vague. That aggravating factor was not defined with sufficient clarity to restrict the discretion of the jury when the death sentence was recommended or the judge when the death sentence was imposed. The instructions and argument unconstitutionally distorted the weighing process used in recommending and imposing the death sentence, and incorrectly state the law in Florida. Accordingly, the death penalty must be reversed and the matter remanded for a new penalty phase.

<u>POINT XI</u>: The trial judge gave the state advance permission to cross-examine Cox concerning guilt if Cox testified during the penalty phase, even if Cox totally avoided the issue when testifying. That ruling was erroneous and it prevented Cox from addressing his sentencer and as such Cox was denied rights guaranteed by the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.

POINT I

THE CONVICTION FOR FIRST-DEGREE MURDER VIOLATES THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS AND ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS 9 AND 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE IS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE GUILTY VERDICT.

The trial court granted an acquittal for first-degree felony murder because the state failed to prove an underlying felony. (R1027) The trial judge erred by not also granting an acquittal to the charge of first-degree premeditated murder because the state's evidence is legally insufficient to support a guilty verdict; the proof fails to exclude the reasonable possibility that someone other than Robert Cox killed Sharon Zellers and/or that the killing was not premeditated. The evidence of Cox's guilt is entirely circumstantial, consisting of the reasonable inferences to be drawn from the facts established by competent testimony.

Those facts are not is dispute. Zellers worked and was last seen alive at Disney World at 9:40 p.m. on December 30, 1978. (R453-54,493) Her father began looking for her around midnight on December 30, 1978 without success. (R461) The sheriff's office was notified and deputies responded to the house around 1:00 p.m. on December 31, 1978. (R469-71) Zellers' Falcon was found in an orange grove near Orlando on January 3, 1979. (R683, 472,499) Zellers' body was found nearby in a sewage lift station on January 4, 1979. (R481) The proximity of the sewage lift station to the Falcon is depicted in State's Exhibit 6.

An autopsy revealed that Zellers received numerous injuries to the head, body, arms and hands, many of which were characterized as "defensive" wounds. (R771,778-80) Three wounds were potentially fatal (R786), but the cause of death was brain injury caused by blunt force trauma to the head. (R777) Zellers lost a fingernail prior to death and bleeding from that and other wounds established that Zellers lived for approximately one-half hour after the injuries were inflicted. (R773-74) Zellers could have been alive on January 2, 1979. (R787) At the time of the autopsy Zellers' blood alcohol content was .069% (R787); a percentage of .10 creates a legal presumption of being under the influence of alcohol. Section 316.193, Florida Statutes (1987).

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