IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

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

53. ("It was only after Florida placed a detainer on Cox...that Cox was able to demand disposition of the charge".)

Section 941.45(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1987), provides in pertinent part that a prisoner may request final disposition of "any untried indictment, information, or complaint on the basis of which a detainer has been lodged" (emphasis supplied). Therefore, in order for appellant to have been entitled to avail himself of the speedy trial provisions of the interstate agreement on detainers, a detainer must have first been lodged against him. O'Connell v. State, 400 So.2d 136 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). As conceded by appellant, the State of Florida did not place a detainer on him until December 15, 1987 (R 1962, 1966). See, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 49.

Furthermore, in response to appellant's current theory of error, it is not the date of request for disposition of untried charges which activates the speedy trial period but the date such a request is received by the receiving state. Coit v. State, 440 So.2d 409, 412 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (period of 180 days set by statute commences when request containing information required by statute has been delivered to prosecuting officer in receiving state); accord, State v. Minnick, 413 So.2d 168, 169 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); Pinnock v. State, 384 So.2d 738, 739 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980).

Inasmuch as appellant's request for disposition of the pending Florida charge, although prepared on January 1, 1988, was not received by the Florida authorities until January 22, 1988 (R 1962-1963), appellant's motion for discharge was not only premature when filed on May 13, 1988 (R 2109-2112) but was also

premature when heard on June 14, 1988 (R 1376-1394), and his trial, which commenced on June 27, 1988, was well within the 180-day time frame provided by section 941.45(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1987). Since appellant is not entitled to discharge under either the theory which was advanced below or that which has been presented for the first time on appeal, his conviction must therefore be affirmed.

POINT FIVE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY
DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO
DISMISS PREDICATED UPON ALLEGED
PRE-INDICTMENT DELAY.

In order to prevail in his assertion that the state's "delay" in indicting appellant for the first-degree murder of Sharon Zellers violated his constitutional rights, appellant must make the following twofold showing:

- (1) actual prejudice to the conduct of his defense, and
- (2) fundamental unfairness after the reasons for such delay are balanced against the demonstrable prejudice occasioned thereby.

Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 531 (Fla. 1987). Although appellant contends that "evidence was lost as a direct result of the pre-indictment delay" (see, Initial Brief of Appellant, pages 52-53), no bad faith on the part of the government in postponing the prosecution of the appellant or actual prejudice resulting from any delay, be it deliberate or otherwise, has been demonstrated. Since appellant bears the burden of initially establishing the prejudice prerequisite to relief with respect to this claim, and the record does not support appellant's position that such a showing was made below, the decision of the trial court denying appellant's motion to dismiss was undoubtedly correct (R 2200).

Initially, appellee detects some incongruity in appellant's simultaneous assertions that the state should have been required to move forward with appellant's prosecution in 1979 and that the

evidence presented at trial nine years later is legally insufficient to sustain appellant's conviction despite the "tactical advantage" alleged to have accrued to the state as a result of the nine-year delay. See, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 53. Either the state had a prima facie case against the appellant prior to 1988 or it did not.

The prosecution is under no obligation, predicated upon protection of any recognized constitutional right of a defendant, to seek an indictment until satisfied that guilt can be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. United States v. Solomon, 686 F.2d 863, 872 (11th Cir. 1982); ~~see also~~, United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 97 S.Ct. 2044, 52 L.Ed 2d 752 (1977). However, if the evidence ultimately presented in 1988 was so tenuous, then it would certainly stand to reason that any delay in appellant's prosecution was prompted by some perceived infirmity in the state's case rather than some cunning stratagem to undermine the opposition. The advantages accorded a criminal defendant through postponement of prosecution have long been recognized by this Court. Acree v. State, 15 So.2d 262, 264, 153 Fla. 561 (Fla. 1943) (motions for continuance should be closely scrutinized in criminal cases because of greater temptation to delay); Brown v. State, 184 So. 777, 778 (Fla. 1938) (recognizing advantage afforded defendant by continuance of criminal prosecution).

It is not as though appellant was unaware of his continuing status as a suspect in the victim's murder, given the fact that a statement by appellant was taken by the Florida authorities in Georgia in the presence of legal counsel on January 12, 1979,

just two weeks subsequent to the victim's disappearance (R 897-899, State's Exhibit 49) and that no statute of limitations exists for the offense of first-degree murder. §775.15(1), Fla. Stat. (1987). Court-ordered blood and hair samples were obtained from the appellant in February of 1979 (R 833-834). Then, at least as early as October of 1986, appellant was apprised, as a result of a visit by Detective Hansen to the California Correction Center where appellant was currently incarcerated, that he was still under investigation for the murder of Sharon Zellers (R 1377-1381). See, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 53. In view of the circumstances that appellant had both immediate and continual knowledge that his prosecution for first-degree murder was a foreseeable possibility at some future uncertain date, the presumption of advantage occasioned by delay should be applied with respect to resolution of the prejudice component of appellant's claim.

Appellant's assertion that, because "[t]he police destroyed the names and statements of people; they failed to preserve blood and hair samples; the names of the guests at the Days Inn Motel were also lost ... Cox's ability to conduct an independent investigation to develop evidence of his own to rebut the state's circumstantial evidence" was hindered, is simply without record support. See, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 53. Appellant primarily blames Detective Hansen, who had been a homicide detective for four years at the time of the commission of the murder and was lead investigator in the case, for appellant's inability to successfully defend the charge against him. Notes

made during interviews with those motel patrons who observed appellant (mistakenly) attempting to enter their rooms were not preserved (R 1340-1341); however, it was the recollection of the witness that such individuals could not even describe appellant beyond the fact that he was boisterous and bloody (R 1346). Samuel Works, the Days Inn Security Officer who responded to the guest complaints and followed the trail of blood to the appellant's room, testified that the guest in room 2305 had described a short male wearing a military-style haircut and green shirt (R 634-637). By the time Works arrived upstairs, a very bloody appellant clad only in sweat pants was exiting the bathroom with a green shirt and towel in hand (R 637-640). Inasmuch as the identity of the injured motel guest as the appellant has never been in dispute and the testimony of the lost witnesses would appear to have only been cumulative of that offered by state witness Works, no prejudice with respect to Detective Hansen's destruction of these witness interviews has been demonstrated.

Appellant likewise points out that some statements of Walt Disney World employees were also destroyed (R 1341); however, the statement of the last employee to see the victim alive was preserved (R 1347-1348), and that individual testified on behalf of the state at trial (R 488-497). Moreover, no statement of any Walt Disney World employee who might have had a motive to murder the victim was destroyed until after such person had been eliminated as a suspect (R 1348).

Appellant also complains that the names of an original pool of sixty suspects were not preserved by Detective Hansen (R 1341). Significantly, most ~~of~~ these individuals were subject to hair comparison analysis and were subsequently eliminated as suspects because the hair samples obtained did not compare favorably with any of the hairs found in the victim's vehicle (R 1341-1342). Even more importantly, the names of all suspects from which hair samples had been obtained were preserved on a property receipt list which still existed in 1988 (R 1344). Again, no actual prejudice has been demonstrated. Finally, Detective Hansen's interview with Dr. Taggart, the surgeon who repaired the appellant's tongue, could not have been especially probative (R 1346) in view of the fact that the witness' own operative notes shed no more light on the issue whether appellant's injury could have been self-inflicted other than to indicate that the surgeon's post-operative recollection of the injury was not inconsistent with the recollection of Betsy Porter (R 908-911). Again, no actual prejudice has been demonstrated.

Detective Hansen testified that no information which could be characterized as exculpatory of the appellant was destroyed (R 1349). Notes were only destroyed as suspects were eliminated (by such means as confirming alibis) and as reports were completed (R 1345-1346).

The state's handling of certain blood samples is also sharply criticized by appellant. However, according to Mark Pellham, a serology expert employed by the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, the procedures utilized to handle the evidence

submitted for analysis in the instant case were standard operating procedures¹⁰ (R 1351, 1356). Moreover, although an enzyme test was requested by the Orange County Sheriff's Office on unknown samples "Q-1" through "Q-5" and such tests were not conducted for some unspecified reason, "enzymatic tests were not being done routinely at that time" (R 1355-1358). Such tests were not possible in 1988 as a result of the conditions under which the samples had been stored (R 1356).

Interestingly, no enzyme tests whatsoever were possible in January of 1979 due to the condition of the sample of the victim's blood prompted by the victim's corpse having floated in a sewer containing human waste for several days prior to its discovery (R 858, 1359-1360). Moreover, even if enzyme analysis of the victim's blood had been possible, there was no suspect sample at that time to which enzymes could be compared (R 1360). When the appellant's known blood sample was received in August of 1979, enzymatic tests were not considered feasible; therefore, even if appellant had been indicted and tried shortly thereafter, appellant would not have had the (speculative) benefit of such test results (R 1360-1361).

Although it is certainly easy for appellant to allege that these tests would have proven to be exculpatory, since the state will never be able to prove otherwise, the record does not support such a bald assertion. Pellham steadfastly refused to indicate that the results of any tests which were not actually

¹⁰ Liquid blood samples were stored under refrigeration; dried samples were stored at room temperature and returned to the submitter after tests were completed (R 1356).

performed would have eliminated appellant as a suspect (R 1355). Such tests could have either proven to be inculpatory, exculpatory or inconclusive:

If I had sufficient quantity, if it had been preserved under proper conditions, if it was not contaminated, if everything works properly, I might have been able to get a result.

(R 1362) (emphasis supplied).

Even if appellant had successfully demonstrated that the state's failure to adequately preserve certain samples hindered preparation of his defense, established precedent does not require preservation of that evidence by the state which is merely potentially beneficial to a defendant. See, California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984). In the absence of any showing of bad faith on the part of the state, the failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law. See, Arizona v. Youngblood, 109 S.Ct. 333 (1988). Moreover, this Court has held that the Sixth Amendment right of an accused to confront the witnesses against him does not encompass physical evidence. See, G.E.G. v. State, 389 So.2d 325 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), affirmed, 417 So.2d 975 (Fla. 1982).

Inasmuch as appellant is unable to satisfy his initial burden of demonstrating actual prejudice occasioned by the pre-indictment delay, this Court need not even reach the issue concerning the state's reasons for such delay. However, assuming that some modicum of actual prejudice can be gleaned from the

record, this Court must then "balance the demonstrable reasons for delay against the gravity of the particular prejudice on a case-by-case basis." Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d at 531. Detective Hansen testified that DNA analysis had emerged as a scientific tool in the apprehension of criminals during the interval between appellant's commission of the murder and his indictment for same; unfortunately, the results were inconclusive (R 1343). The state's effort to acquire dispositive evidence of appellant's guilt in an admittedly circumstantial case prior to commencing prosecution cannot fairly be characterized as violating "the fundamental conception of justice, decency and fair play" required to entitle appellant to the relief sought. Id. Consequently, appellant's conviction must be affirmed.

POINT SIX

NO PREJUDICIAL ERROR HAS BEEN DEMONSTRATED CONCERNING APPELLANT'S NUMEROUS CHALLENGES TO VARIOUS EVIDENTIARY RULINGS BY THE TRIAL COURT, MANY OF WHICH CLAIMS WERE NOT EVEN PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

Appellant asserts that numerous erroneous evidentiary rulings by the trial court, when considered either "individually and/or cumulatively", flawed appellant's trial to such an extent as to render the proceeding unfair. See, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 71. Each of these claims will be addressed in the order in which they have been presented by the appellant.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY PERMITTING THE PROSECUTION TO MISCHARACTERIZE THE EXPERT TESTIMONY OF A STATE WITNESS; MOREOVER, THIS ISSUE WAS NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

During the conviction phase of trial, an expert witness called by the state testified that a blood sample derived from appellant's hotel bathroom (R 679-682) showed "activity in the A row" during the first test; however, because there was insufficient sample to conduct a reliable subsequent test, the result was reported as inconclusive (R 866-868). After the prosecutor requested that the witness denote his observations concerning this particular blood sample on State's Exhibit 44, which although not contained in the appellee's record on appeal has been designated as a drawing of blood types, defense counsel interposed the following objection:

MS. CASHMAN: I am going to object, Your Honor. I believe the expert has told us it was inconclusive.

(R 868). After the prosecutor explained that he simply wanted the expert testimony that the initial test had produced some A activity to be reflected on the chart, the objection was overruled and State's Exhibit 44 was subsequently admitted into evidence without objection (R 868, 871). Likewise, the prosecutor's reference to such evidence in closing argument prompted no objection whatsoever (R 1094-1095). Instead, for the first time on appeal, appellant argues that the closing argument of the prosecutor mischaracterized the expert testimony of the witness. See, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 57.

In the first instance, this Court should decline to review a claim of error which was never presented to the trial court. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). However, even if this issue is considered on the merits, the closing argument of the prosecutor did not in any way contradict the evidence which had been presented during the state's case-in-chief. The prosecutor did not argue that the test result on the blood sample derived from appellant's hotel bathroom was conclusive; to the contrary, the prosecutor accurately stated that the test had indicated "some A activity" (R 866-867, 1095).

Even if error could be gleaned from this unpreserved claim, the prosecutor's suggestion that the presence of blood in appellant's bathroom which could have belonged to the victim was "another fact for you to consider" was harmless at most (R 1095). Prior to commencement of closing arguments, appellant's jury was properly instructed that "what the attorneys say to you is not evidence" (R 1060). At the conclusion of closing arguments, the

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